
| 9 |THE QUARTERLY  • LXVII: 1  • 2023

The History of the Greater Horseshoe Lake Landscape  
Part One: A.A. Low and the Horse Shoe Forestry Company

by Matthew M. Thomas and Mary Kunzler-Larmann

For the south woods of St. Lawrence County, there 
is perhaps no other historical narrative that captures 
as much interest and attention as the story of 
Abbot Augustus Low and his Horse Shoe Forestry 
Company.1 In the final decades of the 1800s, notable 
wealthy families were establishing large preserves 
of land and Adirondack Great Camps. In contrast, St. 
Lawrence County was witness to the development of 
a different grand estate. Neither a hunting preserve 
nor an elegant retreat like the estates of Webb, 
Durant, and Vanderbilt, A.A. Low’s estate was the 
fast-developing creation of an inventive man of the 
times who did not need to make money from the 
enterprise.

A.A. Low was a wealthy Brooklynite who, at the 
turn of the last century, used his enormous wealth 
to purchase great blocks of land around Horseshoe 
Lake and the Bog River (Figure 1). He established a 
sprawling industry exploiting forest products and 
built an electrified settlement for his hundreds 
of workers, private railroads, hydropower dams, 
sawmills, maple sugaring plants, and a private camp 

for his family (Figure 2). A notable thread in the story 
of the Horse Shoe Forestry Company is how it quickly 
sprang from the wilderness only to come crashing 
down following the catastrophic forest fire of 1908. 
However, the Horseshoe story continues well beyond 
the time and works of A.A. Low. In fact, following the 
death of A.A. Low, it was his son, A.A. Low. Jr., who 
directed and enabled a significant portion of the 
second chapter of the history of the Horseshoe Lake 
landscape.2

A great deal has already been written about A.A. Low 
and the Horse Shoe Forestry Company by authors 
such as Clark, Gove, Dean, Kudish, McMartin, Frenette 
and others.3 However, in the telling of history, there is 
always room for a fresh look from new perspectives 
using new sources and research materials and 
applying new technologies not previously available. 
This has been demonstrated in recent books by John 
Taibi and this article’s co-author Matthew Thomas.4 
The objective here is to refine and deepen our 
understanding of the Horseshoe story, and we have 
taken the existing histories not as immutable truth 
but instead as a starting point to develop questions 
and direct our research efforts. Most notable 
among past works that have led us to question our 
assumptions and sources of evidence is the often 
cited and seminal article on Horseshoe history by 
F. Mark Clark that was published in this journal in 
1974.5 With that connection, it seems fitting to share 
the updated story here. This newly expanded story 
of Horseshoe has been divided into two parts and 
will appear sequentially in this journal. The first part, 
appearing here, focuses on A.A. Low, Sr. from the 
origins and progression of the Horse Shoe Forestry 
Company through to his death in 1912. The second 
part will explore the Horseshoe landscape under A.A. 
Low, Jr. and what became of the Low estate from 
1912 to the 1990s. 

Figure 1. Abbot Augustus Low, Sr. relaxing at Camp Marian. At 
age 40, A.A. Low’s 1888 passport application described him as 5 
feet, 10 inches tall, with blue eyes, a florid complexion and black-
grey hair. Photo courtesy of private collection.
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In this article, the names of the geographic locations 
of the lake and settlement of Horseshoe are spelled 
as one word consistent with most recent naming 
conventions, despite the earlier names of Horse 
Shoe Lake and Horse Shoe Pond being written as 
two words. For reference to the Horse Shoe Forestry 
Company, it is always written as two words following 
the formal naming of the company as designated 
and trademarked by A. A. Low.6

The Practical Philanthropist

A.A. Low’s first taste of the Adirondack wilderness 
probably came in 1858 or 1859 when, as a teenager 
traveling with his cousin (who later became his 
stepbrother) William G. Low, he visited the home of 
William Constable in Lewis County. From there they 
traveled by wagon and foot to Raquette Lake where 
the young Lows were treated to an impressionable 
two weeks of hunting, fishing, and camp life.7 As 
a young man, Low made guided outings in the 
Independence River area with a guide from the 
Puffer family in 1869 and 1874. He and William also 
made a European tour, as was traditional for young 
members of wealthy families for acquiring culture.8 
A.A. Low’s father Abiel Abbot Low was a founding 

member of the Preston Pond Club at Tahawus in 
1876, providing a further connection to the wilds 
of northern New York.9 The Low family was said to 
have spent part of their summers in Lake Luzerne, 
tragically documented in the record of the death 
of A.A. Low’s young son in Luzerne in 1884. Low 
continued his Adirondack connections with eventual 
purchases of thousands of acres of remote forest land.

With a privileged upbringing, A.A. Low was well-
acquainted with the manners and formalities 
common among those who moved in circles of 
people with influence and equally great wealth. Low 
was described as “a man of unusual appearance and 
great dignity of bearing and a kindly manner that 
made friends for him everywhere...A commanding 
figure…(that) dressed with care…He was formal, 
but courteous in meeting strangers, and his high 
standards of excellence prevailed…”10 There is no 
question that by the mid-1890s, A.A. Low was a very 
wealthy man, just how wealthy is unclear. In 1888, 
when brothers A.A. Low and Seth Low liquidated the 
company started by their father, Seth was reported 
to have earned $3 million. It can be assumed that 
A.A. Low’s  share was a similar amount at a time of no 
inheritance tax and no income tax. A 1901 newspaper 

Figure 2. Locations of railroads, roads, and primary activity areas at the A.A. Low estate and industrial landscape of the Horse Shoe 
Forestry Company. Drawn by Matthew M. Thomas.
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article estimated A.A. Low’s wealth to be as much as 
$40 million, the equivalent of over a billion dollars 
today.11

Born and raised in the prestigious section of 
Brooklyn Heights, Low always maintained a strong 
connection to that community. In a time of no tax 
“write-offs,” he was personally involved in Brooklyn’s 
charities and improvement institutions, providing 
financial assistance and promotional support. Low 
was once described as a “practical philanthropist” 
and was a notably generous man, especially as 
the primary benefactor supporting St. Michael’s 
Episcopal Church where he even taught Sunday 
school.12 In addition, Low was known for his efforts at 
beautifying Brooklyn with the planting of hundreds 
of trees on the streets and making trees available to 
any individuals that wished to plant more.13 A.A. Low 
was said to have been an unselfish man who spent 
money freely and took care of his workers and his 
community. One report said, “he made an effort to 
keep every worthless character in the neighborhood 
of his shop employed, to keep him out of mischief.”14 
Low’s “neighborhood shop” was a workshop he 
maintained in the old Brooklyn Bank building. It 
was here that he worked with his personal team 
of engineers and assistants to develop his and his 
team’s ideas and inventions.

Putting his “ideas laboratory” to work, Low was 
prolific in his attempts to bring his and others’ ideas 
to life, and he had many patents to his name to prove 

it. Interestingly, that legacy has reached mythical 
proportions, figuratively and literally, with an often-
repeated claim that “during his lifetime (he) was 
second only to Edison in the number of individual 
patents granted.”15 A careful and exhaustive search 
of patent records by railroad historian John Taibi and 
this article’s co-author Mary Kunzler-Larmann has 
found the claim to be unsubstantiated. Their research 
found 367 patents attributable to A.A. Low (10 design 
patents, 306 US inventions, 23 foreign inventions, 2 
labels, and 26 trademarks) in comparison to the 1,093 
US patents attributed to Edison. In reality, there were 
many other inventors with more patents than Low 
in his lifetime. One list from 1900, published by the 
United States Patent Office, identifies the number 
of patents awarded individuals in rank order to that 
date, and A.A. Low was not even in the top twenty.16

Low was what might be called a gentleman inventor 
as well as a gentleman forester, akin to a gentleman 
farmer who owns and runs a farm more for pleasure 
than for profit or success. As described by one of 
his patent attorneys, “Mr. Low was just the reverse 
of the run of ordinary inventors…He would spend 
years in perfecting a machine, and as soon as he 
had it developed to the point where it satisfied him, 
he dropped it as quickly as he had taken it up, and 
there was no effort made to put the invention on 
the market or exploit it in any way.”17 There is also 
a question about how appropriate it is to ascribe 
the title of inventor to A.A. Low. He has his name 
on many patents, but it is not clear how many nor 
which ones were truly his invention or idea. Some 
ideas may have come from others, but because 
of his resources and his patronage, Low was able 
to develop some of them, resulting in his name 
being added to the patents. The truth probably lies 
somewhere in the middle. Low did come up with 
many ideas himself, but he also was named on other 
patents, both as patentee and assignee, where the 
original idea probably came from one of the workers 
he employed and supported in his ideas laboratory.18

Following the Brooklyn workshop model, Low 
continued his research and development activities at 
his Horseshoe operation, a virtual northwoods ideas 
laboratory. Ideas for items connected to activities at 
Horseshoe that he designed and patented range 
from sap pails and covers (US patents 658039, 
658040, 659033, 659373, 661221, 668313, USD 34539) 

Figure 3. Two men, possibly James Hill and John Rivet, standing 
alongside a model of steam heated evaporating pan for making 
maple syrup, identical to an evaporator in patents sponsored 
by A.A. Low. Image taken from Fox and Hubbard booklet, The 
Maple Sugar Industry from 1905.
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to natural wood fuel (US 660863), and even a cast 
iron wood stove embossed with the logo of the 
Horse Shoe Forestry Company (US626838). In some 
cases, he facilitated the invention and design of 
technology that was never put to use, such as a 
steam-heated evaporator for making maple syrup 
designed by James H. Hill and John Rivet (US 
patents 684242 and 697484). Low and these men 
did build a small prototype or model steam heat 
evaporator that matches the patent design, but 
there is no indication that steam heat was ever used 
in the extensive manufacturing of maple syrup and 
sugar by the Horse Shoe Forestry Company (Figure 
3). Rather, all the maple sugar houses were designed 
for, and used, wood-fired evaporators.

Opening of Horseshoe

In the years prior to the construction of the New 
York Central and Hudson River Railroad (NYC)19 and 
A.A. Low’s arrival and purchase of the lands around 
Horseshoe Lake, the woods were witness to sporadic 
softwood logging and visitation by hunters and 
sportsmen. Travel was by foot, horse and wagon 
over primitive trails and roads or by canoe and 
guide boats on the Bog River and inland lakes. Two 
overland routes were in existence prior to Low and 
the coming of the railroad. The Canton to Chester 
Road, also called the Colton and Long Lake Road, 
ran from the southwest corner of Tupper Lake west-
northwest toward Massawepie Lake and was in use 

from at least as early as the 1850s. This route from 
Tupper Lake was also used by guides and others as 
an overland portage into Horseshoe Lake, avoiding 
the falls and rapids on the lower Bog River. The other 
overland route was the Bog River Tote Road which 
ran west and south from an intersection with the 
Colton and Long Lake Road, southwest past Hitchins 
Pond and westward, crossing and recrossing the 
Bog River before terminating near Goose Pond.

Through the late 1800s, the region encompassing 
Horseshoe Lake and the Bog River was some of 
the most remote land in the Adirondacks and 
experienced limited softwood logging. Like most 
lands in the Adirondacks at that time, nearly all the 
acreage in the area was owned by lumbermen like 
Moses Herrick, and F.A. Weed and George W. Sisson 
of the Sherman Lumber Company, in what were 
then the townships of Oakham and Atherton, as well 
as the Hollis Snell Lumber Company along the Bog 
River.20 Logging was most active in the late 1880s 
and early 1890s with the cutting of spruce and white 
pine. By the time A.A. Low began to purchase lands 
around Horseshoe Lake, nearly three quarters of 
the spruce and pine had been logged off.21 Logging 
generally occurred in the winter months, and logs 
were sent down river in the spring when the rivers 
were high from snow melt.22

In 1892, while the NYC Railroad was under 

Figure 4. First passenger and freight station of the Mohawk and 
Malone Railroad, later the New York Central Railroad, at Horse 
Shoe Pond. Image Courtesy of John Taibi and the New York 
Central System Historical Society.

Figure 5. July 1894 Herkimer Democrat newspaper advertisement 
for George Dukelow’s Lake View Inn at Horseshoe Pond.
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construction, Seneca Ray Stoddard reported in the 
23rd edition of his Adirondacks Illustrated guidebook 
that “a station to be called ‘Horse-Shoe Pond’ will 
be established on the new (rail) road about 5 miles 
west of the (Tupper Lake) house, and stages will 
run to connect with (the) trains.” There is evidence 
to suggest that the initial stop and first Horseshoe 
railroad station may have been situated a half mile 
north of the later Horseshoe settlement, where the 
Colton to Long Lake (aka Old Canton to Chester 
Road) intersected the newly laid rails. Photographs 
and descriptions of the original station tell us it 
was a simple wooden shed, 7 x 9 feet in size with 
an accompanying freight car parked alongside 
on a rail siding with a station agent who assisted 
travelers and handled freight shipments (Figure 4). 
In addition, unpublished maps from Conners and 
Sewall show a cluster of buildings at this location 
north of the Horseshoe settlement, identified 
as “section houses,” a term commonly used in 
reference to railroad worksites.23 Field investigations 
by the authors recorded historic remains and the 
earthen berms of multiple structures at this location. 
Research into this question is ongoing.

The NYC Railroad began running in October of 1892 
and, by the spring of 1893, a settlement along the 
west shore of Horseshoe Lake had begun to form. 
George Dukelow had established a simple two-story 
hotel called the Lake View Inn with patrons arriving 
at a scheduled stop on the NYC Railroad (Figure 5). 

At this location along the shore of Horseshoe Lake, 
the NYC rails ran close to the shore of the fresh and 
clean, spring-fed lake, permitting the railroad to 
locate a pump station and water tank for refreshing 
the steam locomotives. The clean water source was 
further exploited by the railroad company for ice 
harvesting each winter beginning in 1893 or 1894.24

Arrival of A.A. Low

Establishment of the Forest Preserve and the 
State initiative to acquire lands inside the blue 
line prompted many well-off New Yorkers, like the 
earlier mentioned Webb, Durant, and Vanderbilt, to 
purchase large tracts for the establishment of their 
own private forests and Great Camps. As one of their 
contemporaries, Abbot Augustus Low followed their 
lead. A.A. Low’s arrival at Horseshoe began with 
land purchases in August and September of 1896, 
acquiring title to the lands around the south and 
southwest shoreline of Horseshoe Lake. Additional 
purchases, including 10,000 acres from the Sherman 
Lumber Company for $100,000, expanded his 
holdings to the west and south, adding portions of 
the Bog River, Trout Pond, and Silver Lake and its 
surrounding mountains.25 By March 1898, Low had 
taken ownership of Hitchins Pond and additional 
stretches of the Bog River.26 A.A. Low was clearly 
interested in something more than a camp and estate 
in the Adirondacks as evidenced by a November 
1896 article in Brooklyn Life, which stated that A.A. 
Low had been especially interested in the “study of 

Figure 6. View from the railroad tracks looking west at the 
residence of A.A. Low at Horseshoe settlement. Courtesy of the 
Piercefield Museum.

Figure 7. Buildings at the Horseshoe settlement, (left to right) 
carriage house, stock barn in background, syrup house. Image 
courtesy of the Piercefield Museum.
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arborculture and forestry” on his estate, and he was 
“now enabled to make practical experiments” on his 
new preserve.27

With ownership of the core lands of his estate 
secured, in the spring of 1897, Low and his engineer 
John Erehardt began construction of a five-mile-
long macadam road from Horseshoe Lake to Low’s 
new camp on Silver Lake.28 Construction began with 
stonework for the main buildings of the camp along 
with stone foundations for ice houses and barns 
nearby and at the growing Horseshoe settlement. 
Along with the stonework, carpenters worked to 
construct the wood framed cottages, boat house, 
stables, kitchen, dining room, and other buildings 
of the camp on Silver Lake. As the sole owner of 
the lands around Silver Lake,  Low had the luxury of 
formally renaming the body of water Lake Marian 
and christening Camp Marian in honor of his wife, 
Marian Ward Low.29

By purchasing all the lands and property at and 
around Horseshoe Pond, Low turned his estate and 
the settlement of Horseshoe into a private reserve, 
closed to the public. Dukelow’s Lakeview Inn for 
guests was closed and the hotel was remodeled 
as A.A. Low’s personal residence at the Horseshoe 

Figure 8. Horseshoe settlement taken from the front of the 
carriage barn looking east towards Horseshoe Lake. Notice the 
large boarding house on the left, a small servant’s house in the 
middle and the back of A.A. Low’s residence, to the left of the 
road. Courtesy of the Piercefield Museum.

settlement (Figure 6). A New York Times newspaper 
writer described the house as looking like the 
“residence of a prosperous farmer or country lawyer,” 
which, in effect, he was.30 To house the hundreds 
of men he employed, Low built a large boarding 
house on the flat land behind his residence. With 
Dukelow’s departure from Horseshoe, A.A. Low 
requested Dukelow’s former title of Postmaster of 
Horseshoe, a position Dukelow held from October 
1896 to January 1898. Dukelow relocated to Sabattis 
in early 1898 where he purchased the Wilderness 
Inn, established a guide camp on Long Pond, and 
took over duties as the Sabattis postmaster. Dukelow 
later sold the Wilderness Inn in Sabattis to A.A. Low in 
1902 for $40,000.31

The settlement at Horseshoe saw rapid growth and 
development under Low’s ownership. Low deepened 
and straightened the creek alongside his residence, 
drying out the adjacent land, which was then cleared 
for use as a pasture and gardens. To the west, “behind” 
his residence, he added a variety of farm-related 
structures, including a two-story carriage barn, a 
long barn for horses and cattle, another long barn-
like structure with a deep foundation constructed 
of massive stone walls and possibly used as an ice 
house or warehouse (Figures 7 and 8). To the east of 
the residence, between the NYC Railroad tracks and 
the shore of Horseshoe Lake, Low erected a sawmill 
and waste burner, an additional boarding house or 
guest residence sometimes called Low’s clubhouse, 
a company office, storehouse, locomotive engine 
house, and a group of separate cottages for the 
families of married workers (Figure 9). The Horseshoe 
settlement was illuminated with electric lights from 
a steam powered generator or dynamo, bringing the 
modern convenience of electricity to the wilderness 
even before it was in regular use in the nearby 
Adirondack town of Tupper Lake.32

In 1899 Low built three branches of a private narrow-
gauge railroad extending out into the forest like 
spokes on a wheel with the Horseshoe settlement 
as the central hub (Figure 2). Each branch of Low’s 
railroad was given a name (Wake Robin, Grasse River, 
Maple Valley) and the rails were used to efficiently 
move men, equipment, logs, maple sap and maple 
syrup though the forest and into the Horseshoe 
settlement (Figure 10). Low’s railroad was centered 
at the Horseshoe settlement to access the central 
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barns and warehouses via a large teardrop-shaped 
loop with other connecting spurs located parallel to 
both the east and the west sides of the NYC Railroad 
(Figure 9). Early operation of Low’s railroad saw three 
locomotives running on narrow gauge rails. In later 
years, the rails were replaced with standard width 
tracks and locomotives.33

A few years later, Low had a more formal railroad 
station built in the new Horseshoe settlement at his 
own expense, replacing the NYC Railroad’s wooden 
shed used as a depot (Figure 11). According to a New 
York Times article from 1901, “When Mr. Low went 
to Horseshoe, he told the New York Central that 
he wanted a station. The New York Central suavely 
replied after its fashion, that the aged freight car 
then officiating served its purpose amply. Mr. Low 
digested this remark for a year, and then built the 
station and presented it to the New York Central.”34 

Maple Sugaring

Maple sugaring, one of the most 
important forest industries at 
Horseshoe, was in operation by 
the 1898 season, using two small 
sugar houses, each equipped 
with two evaporators that in 
combination produced 2323 
pounds of maple sugar. One 
was located at the Grasse River 
sugarbush alongside the road to 
Camp Marian and the other at 
the Wake Robin sugarbush along 
the southeast shore of Horseshoe 
Lake. Low continued to expand 
the maple sugaring operations 
and was tapping 7,000 trees in the 
1899 season. Following the end 
of the 1899 sugaring season, Low 
added two sugar houses in the 
Maple Valley vicinity and enlarged 
his Grasse River and Wake 
Robin camps to shelter a total of 
nineteen large-sized wood-fired 
evaporators (Figures 12 and 13). 
Low was now prepared to tap 
50,000 trees in the 1900 season. 
Low used the three branches 

Figure 9. Layout of settlement at Horseshoe, circa 1905, showing buildings, railroad 
tracks, roads, and other features. Drawn by Matthew M. Thomas.

of his private railroad through the forest to access 
his maple trees and move sap to the sugar camps. 
The Horse Shoe Forestry Company maple sugaring 
operation was now widely recognized in print as the 
largest sugarbush in the world.35

The showcase sugar house for the Horse Shoe 
Forestry Company was built at Maple Valley in 1899 
for first use in the 1900 season (Figure 14). Located 
at the end of the branch known as the Maple Valley 
Railroad and placed in the center of a triangular 
railroad turnaround known as a wye, the Maple 
Valley sugar house was a large 76-foot by 93-foot 
three story structure, built on a stone and mortar 
foundation with a poured concrete slab, a metal 
frame, and metal siding. As a sugar house, it featured 
a full-length cupola running along the ridgeline to 
emit steam as well as five tall smoke stacks, one for 
each evaporator. The most notable and extravagant 
feature of the Maple Valley sugar house was a marble 
slab floor (Figure 15).36 The Maple Valley sugar house 
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Figure 10. Horse Shoe Forestry Company locomotive “The 
Washington” loading sap on A.A. Low’s private narrow-gauge rail 
line. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Figure 13. Wake Robin sugar house, on the southeast corner 
Horseshoe Lake. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Figure 14. Horse Shoe Forestry Company’s showcase sugar house 
at Maple Valley. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Figure 15. Interior Maple Valley sugar house with a series 
of enormous Champion Brand maple sap evaporators 
manufactured by the G.H. Grimm Company. Shows steel building 
walls and pipe delivery of sap. Courtesy of Library of Congress.

Figure 16. Second Maple Valley sugar house, exact location 
unknown. Courtesy of the Library of Congress.

Figure 17. Horse Shoe Forestry Company syrup house for finishing 
and packing maple products at Horseshoe settlement. Courtesy 
of the Library of Congress.

Figure 11. Photo of railroad station at Horseshoe settlement built 
by A.A. Low and given to the New York Central and Hudson River 
Railroad, circa 1950. Courtesy of John Taibi.

Figure 12. Grasse River sugar house, circa 1900 from glass magic 
lantern slide. Courtesy of Matthew M. Thomas.
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as well as the Wake Robin and the Grasse River 
sugar houses were lit with electricity from individual 
dynamos at each site.

A fourth Horse Shoe Forestry Company sugar house, 
also identified as associated with Maple Valley, is 
known from two historic photographs (Figure 16). 
Its precise location has not been verified; however, 
recent investigations by the authors have identified 
evidence that it may have been located north of the 
Maple Valley sugar house in a small valley west of 
Little Pine Pond along the Bog River Tote Road.37

In addition to the four large sugar houses built by 
A.A. Low, he also erected a large one-and-a-half 
story metal building in the center of the farm area 
of the Horseshoe settlement that he called the syrup 
house (Figure 17). This building was used to store, 
process, and bottle maple syrup and maple sugar 
in jars and bottles embossed with the Horse Shoe 
Forestry Company logo and the name of Low’s three 
sugarbushes, Grasse River, Wake Robin, and Maple 
Valley. The Plattsburgh Evening News reported in 
1903 that “the syrup manufactured at different points 
and taken to Horseshoe Pond, (was) manufactured 
into sugar, put up in fancy packages and sold.”38 

Another source noted that “in the summer months, 
thirty girls made sugar cakes, candy, etc.”39 The 1900 
season was the first season where the entirety of the 
maple sugaring facilities were fully operational and 
the Horse Shoe Forestry Company glass containers 
were put to use (Figure 18). Although this is not 
confirmed, the syrup house was probably also used 
for the manufacture and packaging of other Horse 
Shoe Forestry Company products like fruit jams, 
jellies, butters, vinegar, and as a fruit wine “distillery.”40

Horseshoe Workforce

Beyond mill work, maple sugaring, and general 
construction activities, the Horse Shoe Forestry 
Company employees were also put to work 
gathering wild foods of the forest. Actual logging 
activities at Horseshoe were carried out by contracts 
to local logging companies or jobbers.41 Summer 
and fall months were for harvesting such things as 
blueberries, raspberries, chokecherries, cranberries, 
and crab apples for making jams and jellies and 
even crab apple butter. The syrup evaporators 
were reportedly used for processing these fruits in 
making large volumes of jams and jellies. In some 
cases, additional purchases of barrels of fruit such 
as cranberries were made to augment what the 
local pickers were able to gather.42 A November 
1902 advertisement from the Adams Dry Goods 
Company of New York City stated that they had 
purchased the entire output of jams and jellies from 
the Horse Shoe Forestry Company.43 Norwood News 
reported “immense quantities of raspberry jams, 

Figure 19. Powerhouse and structure of the Upper Dam on the 
Bog River at Hitchins Pond, circa 1914. Note the railroad tracks 
crossing the dam. Courtesy of private collection.

Figure 18. March 1900 advertisement from Harper’s New Monthly 
Magazine for Horse Shoe Forestry Company maple sugar and 
maple syrup. Courtesy of Matthew M. Thomas.
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jellies, grape and elderberry wine are manufactured 
on an elaborate scale under Mr. Low.”44 Low also kept 
honey bees adjacent to the  gardens at Horseshoe.

True to form and protecting his ideas, images, and 
advertising, Low filed for trademark protection of a 
series of artistic renderings of fruits and berries for 
labels on his bottled and jarred food products.45

For Low to build and maintain so many work sites in 
the woods around Horseshoe, he had to house and 
feed a sizable workforce. Newspaper reports indicate 
that for most of the year, there were around 75 men 
put up in three boarding houses at the settlement 
plus a handful of small cottages for men with 
families. The size of the crews would grow during 
the maple sugaring season as needed, sometimes 
increasing to between 100 and 200 men. Data from 
the United States Census, taken in late June 1900 
for the Town of Atherton in St. Lawrence County, 
provide further insight into the background and 
roles of the people working at Horseshoe.46 The five 
men listed in the census as heads of household held 
prominent positions in the Horseshoe community, 
such as Superintendent of the forestry company, 
forester, engineer, and two railroad section bosses. 
Households ranged from private, single family 
cottages to the boarding houses where most of the 
servants and day laborers were housed. A total of 69 
individuals were counted in June 1900 at Horseshoe, 
of which 64 listed occupations. The five that did not 
list occupations were the wife, mother, and father 
of the superintendent, the mother of one of the 
railroad section-bosses, and the young daughter of 
a female servant.

In addition to many day laborers and household 
servants, censuses taken in 1900 and 1905 listed a 
variety of specialized occupations at Horseshoe, 
including machinist, electrician, carpenter, plumber, 
mason, blacksmith, engineer, gardener, forester, 
and tinsmith. The place of birth of these mostly male 
workers was roughly evenly split between native born 
and foreign born, with New York the overwhelming 
place of birth of native born at 38% of the total. The 
next single largest group was from French Canada 
at 22%. Combining French and English Canada 
raises the Canadian numbers to 30%. The complete 
range of places of birth in descending order included 
New York, French Canada, Ireland, English Canada, 

Vermont, Maine, Scotland, Michigan, and Germany. 
The family of A.A. Low was not enumerated at 
Horseshoe in the 1900 and 1905 census, but instead 
at their home in Brooklyn.

Mills and Dams

Although maple sugaring was the primary focus of 
activity, the industrial landscape of the Horse Shoe 
Forestry Company also featured a collection of mills 
for turning both hardwood and softwood trees logged 
on Low’s preserve into finished dimensional lumber, 
clapboards, and staves for barrels. It is unclear exactly 
when the different lumber mills at Maple Valley, Pine 
Pond, and Horseshoe settlement were built by the 
Horse Shoe Forestry Company. Surprisingly, our 
research found no historical references to any of the 
mills at Horseshoe prior to 1902, which is not to say 
they were not in place and in operation. The layout 
of the Horseshoe settlement along the lakeshore, 
with the sawmill at the center of the activity area, 
suggests that mill was in place from an early date 
in the timeline of Horseshoe development, probably 
1899 (Figure 9). Likewise, the layout and location 
of Low’s Maple Valley and Grasse River Railroads 
suggest they were built in 1899 in part to access the 
Maple Valley and Pine Pond mill sites.

By the end of 1901, the first phase of establishing the 
Horseshoe preserve and industrial landscape was 
complete, with a focus on establishing the camp 
at Lake Marian, building a settlement and farm 
at Horseshoe Lake, extending a railroad network 

Figure 20. Interior of Upper Dam powerhouse showing hydropower 
generators, circa 1910. Courtesy of private collection.
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through his forest, bringing the maple sugaring 
operation online, and constructing a series of mill 
sites for processing wood products. The second 
phase of construction began in 1903 and focused on 
establishing the Upper Dam, developing hydropower 
on the Bog River, and constructing Bog River Mill 
where the Bog River enters Hitchins Pond and 
where the Bog River Tote Road crossed the Bog River 
(Figures 19 and 20). Construction of the Upper Dam 
and mill complex began with a one-mile extension 
of the Maple Valley branch of Low’s private railroad. 
Research has yet to document any industrial or 
residential structures in this vicinity of the Bog River 
or Hitchins Pond prior to 1903; however, there was an 
old dam and fjord-like crossing for the Bog River Tote 
Road at the narrows of the Bog River. The Bog River 
Mill was predominantly a hardwood mill with an 
assemblage of electrified buildings housing a range 

of saws, milling equipment, wood 
kiln, and lumber storage (Figure 
21).47 With the establishment 
of this mill, A.A. Low used the 
naming of the Bog River Mill as 
a distinct brand, unique from 
his other mills, painting it on the 
side of flat cars and a log loading 
crane (Figure 22).48

Extension of the rail line to the 
Bog River permitted Low to erect 
a concrete hydropower dam to 
generate power for the adjacent 
mill and Camp Marian via a power 
line stretched through the forest. 
A power house enclosing two 
electric generators straddled the 
dam over the Bog River (Figure 
18). Construction of the dam 
subsequently raised the water 
level of the Bog River, flooding 
lands for many miles behind the 
dam, including Mud Lake at the 
head of the Bog River, creating 
the early stages of what is now 
known as Low’s Lake. Following 
the construction of the mill, 
the tracks, called the Bog River 
Railroad by Low, were extended 
westward for an additional two 
miles along the north shore of 

Figure 21. Hypothetical layout of the Bog River Mill complex and Upper Dam, circa 1908. 
Map based on a compilation and interpretation of information from historic maps and 
photographs. Drawn by Matthew M. Thomas.

the Bog River. The Bog River Railroad terminated 
at an area of flat expanses of land east and south of 
Hornet Pond developed and used by A.A. Low as a 
farming area and log loading site.49 

Today, this area is home to the Sabattis Scout Camp. 
Another branch of the Maple Valley Railroad was 
extended westerly across the dam following the 
esker along the south shore of the Bog River. This 
branch on the south shore extended at least one 
mile beyond the dam and at least as far as a pair of 
cisterns enclosing two developed springs. Workers at 
the Bog River Mill were housed in a simple two-and-
a-half-story boarding house built alongside the Bog 
River Tote Road and the spillway channel connecting 
the dam and Hitchins Pond (see Figure 21). The 
boarding house served as the core of the future 
lodge at Hitchins Pond that was later expanded and 
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improved by A.A. Low, Jr. in the 1920s for use as the 
Low family’s second summer camp.

The third and final phase of construction during 
the A.A. Low era began in 1905 and ended in 1907 
with the building of the 250-foot-long Lower Dam 
across the Bog River.50 A one-mile-long railroad spur 
extended from near the shore of Horseshoe Lake 
southward off Low’s private Wake Robin Railroad 
to reach the dam site on the Bog River (Figure 2). 
It was there, following their patented design, that 
the Ambursen Hydraulic Construction Company of 
Boston, originally out of Watertown, New York, built 
a “hollow” reinforced concrete dam and powerhouse 
for the hydroelectric generation and sale of power. 
More than simply a hydropower and water control 

structure, this dam also provided passage across the 
Bog River for a spur of Low’s private railroad (Figure 23).51

Beyond cutting timber, making maple syrup and 
maple sugar, and packaging a selection of fruit 
products, the Horse Shoe Forestry Company also 
dabbled with the idea of bottling natural spring water. 
Heavy glass bottles embossed with “Adirondack 
Mt’s Virgin Forest Springs” and “Virgin Forest Water 
Co., Virgin Forest Springs, Horse Shoe, St. Lawrence 
Co. N.Y.” were designed and manufactured for Low. 
Despite what has been written about Low’s Virgin 
Forest Spring Water, not a great deal is actually 
known about the bottled water operation.52 For 
example, there are no known advertisements for its 
sale or newspaper accounts from the time referring 
to the bottling of water at Horseshoe.  The five intact 
examples of the bottles known to exist are made 
from both clear and amber glass, and these may 
only be prototypes that were never used. The source 
of the bottled water is believed to be a pair of springs 
located a short distance south of the Upper Dam 
and Hitchins Pond. Still visible to this day are the two 
“cisterns” Low installed to contain and control the 
surface flow of the water from these springs. One 
cistern was built using vertically driven steel pilings 
and the other with wooden staves, each about 12 
feet in diameter. The ground containing the cisterns 
is now a flooded beaver pond but was dry during 
Low’s time. Armand Vaillancourt, a former caretaker 
for Low family properties, reported in 1969 that the 
springs were “located about fifty feet below the level 
of the rail-road tracks; a long conveyor was built 
to carry the water to the track level. It was a huge 
structure. We cut it up a few years ago for scrap metal.” 
Vaillancourt’s description matches the location of 
the two cisterns still visible today.53 Considering that 
construction of the mill infrastructure and residential 
buildings at and around the Upper Dam were not 
in place until after Low’s Maple Valley Railroad was 
extended to that point in 1903, it seems likely that 
any activity associated with the spring water bottling 
also must date to 1903 and after. In fact, A.A. Low’s 
patent specific to the design of the spring water 
bottle was not submitted until March 1904, despite 
the bottles displaying embossed text of “PAT’D JULY 
3, 1900” and “DEC. 8, 1903.” These dates also apply to 
Low’s patents for design features for capping and 
sealing glass bottles under pressure.

Figure 22. Log loader from the Horse Shoe Forestry Company’s 
Bog River Mill mounted on a railroad flat bed. Courtesy of the 
Piercefield Museum.

Figure 23. Lower Dam shortly after completion looking west from 
below the dam and showing locomotive on rail atop dam. Image 
taken from Ambursen Hydraulic Company Album for 1906.
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Despite having installed four different mill sites at 
Horseshoe, according to his son George Cabot Ward 
Low, A.A. Low was “not a lumberman,” implying that 
while A.A. Low was equipped to process logs, he 
was not heavily engaged in harvesting timber on 
his lands. A.A. Low in fact didn’t run his own logging 
crews, choosing instead to contract the harvest of 
timber on his lands with notable local loggers like 
Dana Bissell.54 George C. W. Low further noted that 
the Maple Valley Mill operated “unsuccessfully” in 
its attempts to manufacture staves, barrel heads, 
and clapboards, that the mills at Horseshoe were 
never commercially successful, and were used more 
to meet the immediate needs of A.A. Low and his 
Horse Shoe Forestry Company activities.55 Low never 
seemed to be especially concerned with the lack of 
financial success or return on his investments for his 
endeavors at Horseshoe. With his considerable wealth, 
he had the means to do things his way, for his own 
reasons, using his own, sometimes unconventional 
and formal methods. As a sign of his formality, he 
was known for branding and trademarking his 
forest products and using such terms and logos in 
advertising and on his unique packaging of those 
products. The Horse Shoe Forestry Company glass 

jars and bottles embossed with the company logo 
and name, akin to an Adirondacks family crest, are 
popular collector’s items to this day (Figure 24).

Horseshoe and Fire

Fire was a constant threat at Horseshoe and the Low 
estate, both small fires in the community and larger 
wildfires in the forest, some of which were known 
to smolder for years in the areas of thick duff and 
peat. In May 1903, extensive wildfires in the northern 
Adirondacks destroyed over one million acres of 
forest. At Horseshoe, A.A. Low estimated that 100,000 
trees were damaged that year, among them many 
of the best maple trees for sap production. Low filed 
a claim with the NYC Railroad for damages caused 
by their trains in setting these fires in 1903, accepting 
a settlement of $21,500 in 1904.56 

Structural fires were a real threat at Horseshoe as 
well. For example, in 1905 the powerhouse in the 
Horseshoe settlement adjacent to the railroad 
caught fire, damaging the depot and the mill.57 
Another fire in 1910 destroyed the boarding house, 
office, ice house, store, and post office, causing 
$10,000 in damages and the loss of valuable papers 
and company records.58 However, it was the forest 
fires of September and October 1908 that caused the 
greatest irreparable harm to Low’s forests. Ignited 
by sparks and flying embers emitted from the 
unprotected smoke stacks and fireboxes of steam 
locomotives, the fires of 1908 were arguably the worst 
fires ever experienced in the Adirondacks, leaving 
behind a scorched wasteland of burned forest. In 
the case of the nearby village of Long Lake West, an 
entire town was destroyed, including some buildings 
owned by Low. Amazingly, the structures in the 
developed areas of Low’s estate, namely Horseshoe 
settlement, Camp Marian, Bog River Mill, Maple 
Valley, Grasse River and Wake Robin sugar houses, 
and the mill at Pine Pond appear to all have been 
spared or saved, in part because of Low’s frequent 
use of metal roofing. The same could not be said for 
the forests surrounding these sites. The extent of the 
destruction around Horseshoe was described by The 
Malone Farmer as “appalling,” and that “several of 
the prettiest stretches of woodland country in the 
Adirondacks have been destroyed. Nearly all of Mr. 
Low’s famous sugar woods were burned, and the 
beautiful shores of Lake Marian were destroyed.”59

Figure 24. Three examples of Horse Shoe Forestry Company 
embossed glass jars and bottles with company name and logo 
used for packaging maple syrup, maple sugar, and fruit products 
made at Horseshoe. Courtesy of Matthew M. Thomas.
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The devastating effects of the 1903 and 1908 fires 
on the sugarbushes at Horseshoe and, in turn, the 
Horse Shoe Forestry Company maple operation 
cannot be overstated. Had the damage merely been 
to the syrup plants, railroads, mills and the buildings 
of the settlement, recovery and reconstruction 
could have been possible. After all, A.A. Low was an 
incredibly wealthy man, and he most certainly had 
the means to rebuild. Unfortunately, the damage to 
the mature maple forest that was the lifeblood of the 
maple syrup operations was overwhelming. It would 
take many human generations for such a hardwood 
forest to re-establish, if at all. Most of the workers 
employed by the Horse Shoe Company moved on to 
other work in the region. Low was understandably 
upset with the degree of destruction caused by 
the fires, by the “extent of their ravages”60 both to 
his own lands and to the region. Low attempted to 
salvage some of his infrastructure and put it to use in 
late 1908 with the addition of an electricity powered, 
10-barrel stone grist mill. The mill produced a variety 
of wheat and corn flour, cereal, meal, oats, cracked 
corn, and animal feeds. These products were used 
to feed workers and animals at Horseshoe as well as 
being offered for wider sale in the fall of 1909.61

Even before the 1908 fire, Low had begun to divest 
some parts of his milling infrastructure. In the spring 
of 1908, Low advertised the sale of barely used stave 
saws and joiners, indicating that some of his mills and 
their equipment saw little activity.62 Following the 
destructive effects of the 1908 fire, all of Low’s forest 
related industries ceased operation and were sold. 
The greatest sale of Low’s equipment from the Bog 
River Mill and the mill at the Horseshoe settlement 
went to George Sykes’ Emporium Lumber Company 
in 1910. Emporium was establishing a new mill 
town a few miles north at Conifer, and per their sale 
agreement, Emporium was the recipient of “all the 
machinery, fixtures, and appliances in and belonging 
to the Bog River saw mill, planing mill and wood mill, 
near Horse Shoe, St. Lawrence County, N.Y.”63 Even 
most of the maple sugaring equipment such as 
the large sap evaporators, tanks, and sap pails and 
covers were sold and reused at new homes in the 
area.64 Liquidation of Horse Shoe Forestry Company 
infrastructure continued into 1912, disposing of 
additional components of the forestry, milling, and 
maple sugaring operations, such as buildings, rolling 
stock, locomotives, and even the metal rails.65

In response to the extensive damage to the forest 
resources of Low’s thousands of acres, A.A. Low filed 
a lawsuit in 1910 against the NYC Railroad, seeking 
compensation of $430,000. The case slogged 
through months of discovery and requests for 
documents and evidence by the judge. During that 
time, A.A. Low’s health was declining as he suffered 
from the effects of bladder cancer. In the fall of 
1912, he elected to undergo surgery, but sadly the 
operation was unsuccessful, and A.A. Low died at St. 
John’s hospital in Brooklyn, New York on September 
25, never seeing the case go to trial. A.A. Low’s 
widow Marian Low assumed the role and duties of 
plaintiff in the case, ensuring that it went to trial. 
The following spring the case was heard on May 5, 
1913 in the Supreme Court of St. Lawrence County, in 
Canton, New York.

Judgment was found in favor of the estate of A.A. 
Low and Marian Low with an award of $90,000 in 
damages, plus the plaintiff’s associated costs. The 
NYC Railroad appealed the case, but the Appellate 
Court unanimously ruled in favor of Marian Low 
and affirmed the earlier judgment of $90,000 for 
negligence and damages by fire to the Lows’ lands.66

With the death of A.A. Low and the conclusion of the 
court case for damages from the 1908 fire, the story 
closes on this first part of the history of the Horse Shoe 
Forestry Company and the lands around Horseshoe 
Lake and the Bog River. Part two of this article 
traces what became of A.A. Low’s private estate and 
industrial landscape he created. Look for part two in 
a forthcoming edition of The Quarterly journal of the 
St. Lawrence County Historical Association. ◆

Matthew M. Thomas
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the A.A. Low story from his interest in the history of the maple 
syrup industry. Using his university and professional training in 
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of A.A. Low and the Horseshoe Forestry Company, Matt quickly 
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